Are there optical communication channels in the brain?

Parisa Zarkeshian¹, Sourabh Kumar¹, Jack Tuszyński^{2,3}, Paul Barclay^{1,4}, and Christoph Simon¹

¹ Institute for Quantum Science and Technology and Department of Physics and Astronomy, University of Calgary, Calgary T2N IN4, Alberta, Canada

- ² Department of Oncology, University of Alberta, Cross Cancer Institute, Edmonton T6G 1Z2, Alberta, Canada
- ³ Department of Physics, University of Alberta, Edmonton T6G 2E1, Alberta, Canada
- ⁴ National Institute for Nanotechnology, Edmonton T6G 2M9, Alberta, Canada

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1 ABSTRACT
- 2 INTRODUCTION

3 Results

- 3.1 Optical transmission in myelinated axons
 - 3.1.1 Transmission in nodal and paranodal regions
 - 3.1.2 Transmission in bends
 - 3.1.3 Transmission in presence of varying cross-sections
 - 3.1.4 Transmission in non-circular cross sections
 - 3.1.5 Transmission in presence of other imperfections
- 3.2 Absorption
- 3.3 Attainable transmission
- 3.4 Attainable communication rates
- 3.5 Proposals to test the hypothesis

4 Discussion

- 5 Acknowledgment
- 6 References

1. ABSTRACT

Despite great progress in neuroscience, there are still fundamental unanswered questions about the brain, including the origin of subjective experience and consciousness. Some answers might rely on new physical mechanisms. Given that biophotons have been discovered in the brain, it is interesting to explore if neurons use photonic communication in addition to the well-studied electro-chemical signals. Such photonic communication in the brain would require waveguides. Here we review recent work [S. Kumar, K. Boone, J. Tuszynski, P. Barclay, and C. Simon, Scientific Reports 6, 36508 (2016)] suggesting that myelinated axons could serve as photonic waveguides. The light transmission in the myelinated axon was modeled, taking into account its realistic imperfections, and experiments were proposed both *in vivo* and *in vitro* to test this hypothesis. Potential implications for quantum biology are discussed.

2. INTRODUCTION

Over the past decades a substantial number of facts has been discovered in the field of brain research. However, the fundamental question of how neurons, or more specifically all particles involved in the biological processes in the brain, contribute to mental abilities such as consciousness is still unanswered. The true explanation to this question might rely on physical processes other than those that have been discovered so far. One interesting candidate to focus on is biophotons, which might serve as supplementary information carriers in the brain in addition to the well established electro-chemical signals.

Biophotons – which are photons ranging from near-IR to near-UV frequency and emitted without any enhancement or excitation– have been observed in many organisms such as bacteria (1), fungi (2), germinating seeds (3), plants (4), animal tissue

cultures (5), and different parts of the human body (6-9), including the brain (10-15). These biophotons are produced by the decay of electronically excited species which are created chemically during oxidative metabolic processes (16, 17) and can contribute to communication between cells (18). Moreover, several experimental studies show the effects of light on neurons' and, generally, the brain's function (19-21). The existence of biophotons and their possible effects on the the brain along with the fact that photons are convenient carriers of information raises the question whether there could be optical communication in the brain.

For the sources and detectors of the optical communication process in the brain, mitochondrial respiration (22, 23) or lipid oxidation (24), and centrosomes (25) or chromophores in the mitochondria (26) have been proposed, respectively. It has also been observed that opsins, photoreceptor protein molecules, exist in the brains of birds (27, 28), mammals (29–32), and more general vertebrates (33) and even in other parts of their bodies (34, 35) as well.

Another essential element for this optical communication, which is not well established yet, is the existence of physical links to connect all of these spatially separated agents in a selective way. In the dense and (seemingly) disordered environment of the brain, waveguide channels for traveling photons would be the only viable way to achieve the targeted optical communication processes. Mitochondria and microtubules in neurons have been introduced as the candidates for such waveguides (36–39). However, they are not suitable in reality due to their small and inhomogeneous structure for light guidance over proper distances in the brain.

Ref. (40) proposed myelinated axons as potential biophoton waveguides in the brain. The proposal is supported by a theoretical model and numerical results taking into account real imperfections. Myelin sheath (formed in the central nervous system by a kind of glia cell called oligodendrocyte) is a lamellar structure surrounding the axon and has a higher refractive index (41) than both the inside of the axon and the interstitial fluid outside (see Fig. 1a) which let the myelin sheath to guide the light inside itself for optical communications. This compact sheath also increases the propagation speed of an action potential (via saltatory conduction) based on its insulating property (42). There has been a few indirect experimental evidence for light conduction by axons (12, 43, 44). Another related and interesting experiment has shown that a certain type of glia cells, known as Müller cells, guide light in mammalian eyes (45, 46). Ref. (40) also proposed experiments to test the existence of the optical waveguides in the brain.

One interesting property of optical communication channels is that they can also transmit quantum information. Quantum effects in biological systems are being studied in different areas such as photosynthesis (47, 48), avian magnetoreception (49, 50), and olfaction (51, 52). There is an increasing number of conjectures about the role of quintessential quantum features such as superposition and entanglement (53) in the brain (15, 38, 54–56). The greatest challenge when considering quantum effects in the brain or any biological system in general is environmentally induced decoherence (57), which leads to the suppression of these quantum phenomena. However, some biological processes can be fast and may show quantum features before they are destroyed by the environment. Moreover, nuclear spins can have coherence times of tens of milliseconds in the brain (58, 59). A recent proposal on "quantum cognition" suggests even longer coherence times of nuclear spins (56), but relies on quantum information transmission via molecule transport, which is very slow. In contrast, photons are the fastest and most robust carriers for quantum information channels (typically optical fibers) between spins (60, 61).

3. Results

To show that myelinated axons could serve as the waveguides for traveling biophotons in the brain, Ref. (40) solved the three dimensional electromagnetic field equations numerically in different conditions, using Lumerical's software packages FDTD (Finite Difference Time Domain) Solutions and MODE Solutions. These software packages solve Maxwell's equations numerically, allowing the optical properties of dielectric structures defined over a mesh with subwavelength resolution to be simulated.

The refractive indices of the fluid outside of the axon, the axon, and the myelin sheath were taken close to 1.34, 1.38 and 1.44 respectively (see Fig. 1a), which are consistent with their typical values (41, 62, 63). These indexes let the myelin sheath guide the light inside itself. The ratio of the radius of the axon, *r* to the outer radius of the myelin sheath *r'* (*g*-*ratio*) is taken equal to 0.6 for the most of the simulations, close to the experimental values (64). In reality, the radius of the myelin sheath, Ref. (40) considered the wavelength of the observed biophotons in the brain which is from 200 nm to 1300 nm. Since several proteins in the environment of the axons strongly absorb at wavelengths close to 300nm, a wavelength range of the transmitted light from the shortest permissible wavelength, $\lambda_{min} = 400$ nm, to the longest one, λ_{max} , was chosen to avoid the absorption and confine the light well in the myelin sheath. λ_{max} is chosen to the upper bound of the observed biophoton wavelength (1300 nm) or the thickness of the myelin sheath (denoted by *d*), whichever is smaller. Besides λ_{min} and λ_{max} , an intermediate wavelength was considered, denoted by λ_{int} , corresponding to the central permissible frequency (mid-frequency of the permissible frequency range) in the simulations.

In the following section we discuss the guided modes in the myelinated axons and their transmissions in nodal and paranodal regions and even in the presence of the imperfections such as bends, varying cross-sections, and non-circular cross-sections.



Fig. 1: Simplified depiction of a segment of a neuron, and the cylindrically symmetric eigenmode of a myelinated axon. (a) Structure of a segment of a neuron which is cut longitudinally near the end of the segment. Each layer of the compact myelin sheath (shown in red) ends in the cytoplasm filled loops (shown in light red) in the paranodal region close to a Node of Ranvier. The inset indicates the cross section in the transverse plane with *r* and *r'* as the inner and outer radii of the myelin sheath. *d* is the thickness of the myelin sheath, and n_{my} , n_{ax} , and n_{ext} are the refractive indices of the myelin sheath, the inside of the axon, and the interstitial fluid outside, respectively. (b) Electric field magnitude of a cylindrically symmetric eigenmode (with wavelength $\lambda = 0.612 \,\mu$ m) for a myelinated axon (with *r*=3 μ m, and *r'*=5 μ m). (c) Electric field vector at different points for displaying the azimuthal polarization of the input mode. The adjacent color bar shows the field magnitude. Figure from Ref. (40).

3.1. Optical transmission in myelinated axons

Within the neuron, one can identify numerous intra-cellular structures that can function as potential scatterers, i.e. sources of waveguide loss. They are located both inside the axon and outside of the axon. Intra-cellular structures include cell organelles, for example, mitochondria, the endoplasmic reticulum, lipid vesicles, as well as the many filaments of the cytoskeleton, namely microtubules, microfilaments and neurofilaments. Extra-cellular structures include microglia, and astrocytes. However, the electromagnetic modes which are spatially confined within the myelin sheath, should not be affected by the presence of these structures. These biophoton modes considered here would be able to propagate in a biological waveguide provided its dimension is close to or larger than the wavelength of the light. Fig. 1b shows the numerically calculated magnitude of the electric field of a cylindrically symmetric eigenmode of an axon with radius $r = 3\mu m$ and myelin sheath radius $r' = 5\mu m$ for the wavelength 0.612μ m. This electric field is azimuthally polarized as depicted is Fig. 1c and it is similar to the TE₀₁ mode of a conventional fiber (66) which has higher refractive index of the core than that of the cladding. It is important to note that azimuthal polarization would prevent modal dispersion in the birefringent myelin sheath. Importantly, its optical axes are oriented radially (67). It can be readily established that there are hundreds of potential guided modes allowed to exist given the thickness of myelin sheath. Consequently, biophotons that could be generated by a source in the axons (e.g. mitochondria or recombination of reactive oxygen species) could readily interact with these modes as determined by mode-specific coupling coefficients. While we lack detailed knowledge of the particulars for these interactions, for the sake of simplicity and ease of illustration we select a single mode and examine its transmission. It is interesting to analyze transmission in the presence of optical imperfections such as discontinuities, bends and varying cross-sectional diameters. In this connection, we simulated short axonal segments due to computational limitations and extrapolated the results for the full length of an axon.

3.1.1. Transmission in nodal and paranodal regions

A myelinated axon has periodically unmyelinated segments, called Nodes of Ranvier, which are approximatly 1μ m long (68) (while the whole axon length varies from 1 mm to the order of a meter). Here, we discuss the transmission in the Ranvier nodes



Fig. 2: Nodal and paranodal regions and their transmissions. (a) Longitudinal cross-section of the nodal and paranodal regions in the model of Ref. (40). Here, the ratio of the radius of the axon and the outer radius of the myelin sheath, *g-ratio*, is equal to 0.6, where the outer radius of the myelin sheath is chosen $r' = 5 \mu m$, and the length of the paranode, $l_{paranode} = 5 \mu m$. (b) Magnitude of the electric field profile in the longitudinal direction (EFPL) when a cylindrically symmetric input mode with wavelength 0.612 µm passes through the nodal and paranodal region. (c) Transmission percentage of an axon with the outer radius $r' = 5 \mu m$, as a function of the *p-ratio* (the ratio of the paranodal length and the thickness of the myelin sheath). (d)-(f) Transmission percentage as a function of the axon radius for three different wavelengths of the input mode and three different lengths of paranode. Figure from Ref. (40).

and at the edges of the nodes, the paranodes. The configuration of myelin sheath is special in the paranodal regions (see Fig. 2a). There are many layers making up the compact myelin sheath and at the edge of each node, almost all of the layers are in contact with the core (bared axon) with a small pocket of cytoplasm. That's because each layer moving from the innermost outward is longer than the one below. However, for thick myelin sheaths, many cytoplasmic pockets cannot reach the surface of the bare axon, but end on inner layers. Thus, the length of paranodal regions is dependent on the thickness of the myelin sheath. We call the ratio of the length of paranode, to the thickness of the myelin sheat, d, p-ratio and take its value close to 5 in our simulations based on the realistic values (69).

Fig. 2a displays the model of Ref. (40) for two adjacent paranodal regions with the node in between, and Fig. 2b shows the magnitude of the electric field profile in the longitudinal direction (along the length of the axon), EFPL, as a cylindrically symmetric input mode crosses this region. Fig. 2c shows the power transmission in the guided modes as a function of *p*-*ratio* for three wavelengths, $0.40 \,\mu$ m, $0.61 \,\mu$ m, and $1.30 \,\mu$ m. For the transmission, there are two main losses: divergence or scattering of the light beam. Shorter wavelengths scatter more but diverge less. Thus, in Fig. 2c, for small *p*-*ratios*, shorter wavelengths have higher transmission and as the effect of divergence is dominant in this region and the shorter wavelengths diverge less. However, for the large *p*-*ratios*, the effect of scattering is dominant and since the higher wavelengths scatter less, and have a higher transmission.

Fig. 2d–f compares the transmission percentage for different axon radii, wavelengths, and p–ratios. Although in Fig. 2d, the behavior of the transmission as a function of axon radius is independent of p–ratios for the longest permissible wavelength, it

can be concluded that for the most loosely confined modes (λ_{max}) transmission increases in thicker axons. It's also possible that for long wavelengths, a fraction of the light diverging into the axon comes back into the myelin sheath at the end of the paranodal region and not all the light that diverges is lost. This can be an explanation for not well-defined dependency of the transmission on the paranodal lengths (see Fig. 2d).

In, Fig. 2e, and Fig. 2f, for *p*-ratio = 2.5, based on our intuition from Fig. 2c, the divergence is dominant. Here, the thickness of the axon plays a role in the transmission such that the thicker the axon the divergence is less and the light is transmitted more. However, for larger *p*-ratios, the scattering is dominant and the light scatters more in thick axons.

To summarize, for small *p*-*ratios* (~2.5), the well confined modes (shorter wavelengths) transmit better while for large *p*-*ratios* (~5 or greater), the loosely confined ones (longer wavelengths) transmit better. Thicker axons yield higher transmission for all wavelengths with small *p*-*ratios* while it's inverse only for the shorter wavelengths with large *p*-*ratios*. The transmission after several paranodal regions can be roughly estimated by following the intuition of exponentiating the transmission through one (see Supplementary Information of Ref (40)).

3.1.2. Transmission in bends



Fig. 3: Bends in the waveguides and their transmission. (a) a schematic of a sinusoidally bent waveguide in our model. Here, $r' = 1 \,\mu$ m, the wavelength of the cosine function is 100 μ m, and its amplitude (A) is 5 μ m. (b) Magnitude of the EFPL when the input mode with wavelength 0.4 μ m passes through the bent waveguide. (c) Transmission percentage as a function of the change of curvature, $\Delta \kappa$, for three different wavelengths where $r' = 5 \,\mu$ m and A is being changed to vary $\Delta \kappa$. (d)-(f) Transmission percentage as a function of the myelinated axon radius for three different wavelengths with four different $\Delta \kappa$. Figure from Ref. (40).

Power transmission of a straight waveguide has loss on encountering bends in the waveguide. Although this type of loss

can be minimized by propagation of the eigenmodes of circular bends of constant curvature along the waveguide, one cannot use them for axons. For the varying curvature of axons, these modes are more lossy than eigenmodes of a straight waveguide. So, to verify the bend losses in the axons, Ref. (40) considered the straight–mode in a sinusoidal waveguide with changing curvature and obtained the transmission in the myelin sheath at the other end. Fig. 3a shows one example of S-bend in an axon with radius $0.6 \,\mu m$, and Fig. 3b shows the EFPL as a straight–mode passes through the axon.

The loss in sinusoidal S-shaped bends (shown in Fig. 3a) is highly dependent on the varying curvature (70). Thus, Ref. (40) calculated the total power transmission up to a wavelength away from the myelin sheath boundaries as a function of the change of curvature, $\Delta \kappa = 4Ak^2$ (k is the wavenumber and A is the amplitude of the cosine function) and plotted it for 3 different wavelengths in Fig. 3c (r'=5 µm). The shorter wavelength gives higher transmission and the more the curvature changes the smaller the transmission. Fig. 3d–f compares the transmission of the 3 different wavelengths for different radii of axon and different curvatures. For $\Delta \kappa \sim 0.024 \,\mu\text{m}^{-1}$, all the permissible wavelengths are guided with transmission percentage close to 100% for all axon radii. Note that here we consider the change of curvature, $\Delta \kappa$, of the curve passing through the central axis of the axon. However, the inner part of the bent has the most curvature in comparison with the center or outer part at each point. These differences are more noticeable for thicker axons since they have more change of curvature than the thiner ones and therefore experience more loss for the same $\Delta \kappa$. For the typical axons in the brain similar to those in the images of Ref (71) (the relatively straight axons with length of ~1 µm), $\Delta \kappa < 0.05 \,\mu\text{m}^{-1}$ which results in transmission of over 90 %.



Fig. 4: Varying cross-sections and the transmission in such areas. (a) a schematic of a myelinated axon with longitudinally varying cross sections. Here, the mean radius of the myelinated axon (outer radius of the axon) is $3 \mu m$ and the standard deviation (s.d.) of the variation of radius for the myelin sheath is $0.36 \mu m$. (b) Magnitude of the EFPL when the input mode with wavelength 0.48 μm passes through the region. (c) Transmission percentage as a function of the s.d. of the variation in radius for the myelin sheath for three different wavelengths (the mean radius of the myelinated axon is chosen as $5 \mu m$). (d)-(f) Transmission percentage as a function of the mean radius of the myelinated axon for three different wavelengths with three different s.d. of the variation of radius for the myelinated axon for three different wavelengths with three different s.d. of the variation of radius for the myelin sheath. Figure from Ref. (40).

3.1.3. Transmission in presence of varying cross-sections

The thickness of the myelin sheath, d, is not uniform all along the length of the axon. Ref. (40) varied d according to an approximate normal distribution. The correlation length in the roughness of the myelin sheath – the width of bumps or valleys in the outer surface of myelin sheath– was taken to be 5 µm to 10 µm. The mean value of the distribution (r') is chosen based on the value of *g*-*ratio*, and the standard deviation (s.d.) of d is varied. Fig. 4a shows an example of the simulation for an axon with length of 50 µm, r=2.4 µm, and the s.d. of 30 % of the average d. In Fig. 4b, the EFPL for input light with $\lambda = 0.612$ µm is calculated. Fig. 4 c shows that in general, more deviation of thickness of the myelin sheath results in less transmission and shorter wavelengths transmit better than longer ones. In Fig. 4d–f, we see the behavior of the transmission as a function of mean radius of the myelinated axon with 3 different deviation and for 3 different wavelengths. For variations less than 10%, almost all of the wavelengths can pass through with efficiency over 90%. These results were obtained for the 50 µm segment of the axon and was extrapolated to the case of a longer segment transmission along the axon. In particular, the transmission fraction was exponentiated by the number of 50 µm segments formed in the axon. In general, thicker axons are more sensitive to the large deviations and suffer more loss. Note that longer correlation lengths lead to better transmission for the same s.d, while significantly shorter correlation lengths are known to strongly scatter the mode. Some of the axonal segments (length ~5 µm) of thin axons ($r \sim 1$ µm) are within this type of inhomogeneity, as represented in the images of (72). However, we were unable to find appropriate images of thicker myelinated axons and longer segments required for a more realistic estimate of this type of inhomogeneity.

3.1.4. Transmission in non-circular cross sections

Axons and their myelin sheaths can have different cross-sectional shapes (72). As an example, Ref. (40) simulated the cross-section of a myelinated axon shown in Fig. 5. The points along the axons cross-sectional boundary in Fig. 5a follow a normal distribution whose mean value is 3μ m and standard deviation 0.4μ m. The myelin sheath is approximated as a parallel curve drawn at a perpendicular distance of 2μ m giving an average *g-ratio* = 0.6. Fig. 5b displays the magnitude of the EFPL for the incident light of $\lambda = 612nm$. As Fig. 5c shows, the total power transmission decreases for all wavelengths while the cross-section becomes more random. But the effect of this loss is small in reality, as many axons have less than 10% inhomogeneity in the cross-sectional shape. Therefore, if the axon and myelin sheath change their cross-sectional shape slightly along the length of the axon, the primary source of loss would be the coupling loss (72). However, for a substantial change of circular cross-section along the length, there will be propagation loss as well (40).



Fig. 5: Non-circular cross sections of the axon and myelin sheath and their transmission. (a) A model of the cross-section of an axon with the myelin sheath. The mean distance of the points along the cross-sectional boundary of the axon from its center is $3 \mu m$ with s.d. of $0.4 \mu m$. A parallel curve with an approximate of $2 \mu m$ apart from the axon's boundary is taken as the myelin sheath's boundary. (b) Magnitude of the EFPL when a cylindrically symmetric input mode for a circular cross-section passes along the waveguide with the modeled non-circular cross-section. Here, the input mode wavelength is $0.612 \mu m$, the axon radius is $3 \mu m$, and the myelinated axon's radius is $5 \mu m$. (c) Transmission percentage as a function of the s.d. of the distance between the points on the boundary of the axon and a circle of radius $3 \mu m$ for three different wavelength. Figure from Ref. (40).

3.1.5. Transmission in presence of other imperfections

In addition to the sources of loss considered so far, there can be more imperfections. One of the notable ones is the cross-talk between axons. The conducted light can leak from one axon to the other one if they are placed so close to each other.

To avoid this loss, the distance between two adjacent axon should be at least a wavelength, which happens in most of the realistic cases based on the images in Ref. (72).

The other imperfection we discuss is the varying refractive indexes of the axon and the myelin sheath which have been assumed constant until now. Changing the refractive index both transversely and longitudinally with a s.d. of 0.02 (typical variation as expected from (41, 62)), while keeping the mean the same as the one used so far, Ref. (40) observed no considerable difference in the transmission (typically less than 1 %). Furthermore, Ref. (40) considered the effect of the glia cells next to the internodal segment. These cells were modeled as spheres with radii varying from 0.1 μ m to 0.3 μ m, and refractive index 1.4, filling up one third of the volume of the nodal region outside the axon as expected from the images of the Ref. (72). For the thickest axons, transmission through a node of Ranvier was not affected significantly while for the thinnest one, the transmission increased slightly (~2 %). There would be also additional scattering losses in the areas that myelin sheath is inhomogeneous.

3.2. Absorption

In biological tissues, and more so in the brain, scattering of light, rather than absorption, is the main source of attenuation of optical signals (73). To our knowledge, the absorption coefficient of the myelin sheath has not been measured experimentally. One can only infer it indirectly with limited accuracy. The average absorption coefficient in the white matter decreases almost monotonically from $\sim 0.3 \text{ mm}^{-1}$ to $\sim 0.07 \text{ mm}^{-1}$ for wavelengths $0.4 \mu \text{m}$ to $1.1 \mu \text{m}$ (74). But myelin can not be responsible for the majority of the absorption since grey matter (which is almost devoid of myelin) has comparable absorption coefficients (74). It is likely that light sensitive structures (e.g. chromophores in the mitochondria) are the main contributors to the absorption. Another way to infer myelin's absorption coefficient is to look at the absorption of its constituents, i.e. lipids, proteins and water. Mammalian fat shows an absorption coefficient less than 0.01 mm^{-1} for the biophotonic wavelength range (75). Water has similar absorption coefficients. Most proteins have a strong resonance peak close to $0.28 \mu \text{m}$ with almost negligible absorption above $0.34 \mu \text{m}$, and the proteins in the myelin (e.g. myelin protolipid protein, and myelin basic protein) behave similarly (76). Thus, absorption in myelin for the biophotonic wavelengths seems negligible (over a length scale of $\sim 1 \text{ cm}$), based on the data of its constituents.

3.3. Attainable transmission

Ref. (40) estimated the attainable transmission percentage after 1 cm length of the axon in different examples, taking the axon diameter as 100–150 times less than its internodal length according to the realistic values (64, 77). For an axon with $r = 3 \,\mu\text{m}$, $r' = 5 \,\mu\text{m}$, p-ratio = 7.5, internodal length = 1 mm, wavelength of input light = 1.3 μm , s.d. for varying area = 2.5 %, $\Delta \kappa = 0.039 \,\mu\text{m}^{-1}$, s.d. for non-circularity in cross-section shape = 13.33 %, and separation from the nearby axons = 1 μm , the transmission after 1 cm would be ~ 31 %. This transmission can be increased to ~ 82 % if we take the wavelength of input light = 0.61 μm , p-ratio = 2.5, and keep all the other parameters the same. For a thinner axon with $r = 1.8 \,\mu\text{m}$, $r' = 3 \,\mu\text{m}$, p-ratio = 7.5, internodal length = 500 μm , wavelength of light = 1.2 μm , s.d. for varying area = 20 %, separation from other axons = 1.2 μm , and $\Delta \kappa = 0.039 \,\mu\text{m}^{-1}$ would yield ~ 3 % transmission after 1 cm.

If one chooses the shorter length of 2 mm for the axons (as there are axons with ~ 1 mm length in the brain(78)), then the transmission for the 3 examples discussed above would be ~ 78 %, ~ 96 %, and ~ 46 %, respectively. The main source of loss for these examples is the coupling in the paranodal regions. By locating the sources and receivers close to the ends of the myelinated sections of the axon, one can reduce coupling losses. It is worth noting that photons can propagate in either directions: from the axon terminal up to the axon hillock or in the opposite direction along the axon.

3.4. Attainable communication rates

To estimate the biophoton emission rate per neuron, one can use the experimental data of Ref. (12) in which the number of biophotons emitted per minute by a slice of mouse brain is counted while the neurons are excited with the neurotransmitter glutamate. Ref. (40) calculated this biophoton emission rate as about 1 photon per neuron per minute. This rate is about one to two orders of magnitude lower than the the average rate of electrochemical spikes (79). But there is a considerable uncertainty on this number and it might be higher in reality since it only takes into account biophotons scattered outside, while most of them would likely be absorbed in the brain itself rather than being scattered (if they were propagating inside the waveguides in the brain). On the other hand, one can argue that the estimate could also be too high because the brain slice was stimulated with glutamate. One should also notice that this rate can be different depending on the neuron type.

If one takes such low rate of biophoton emission and consider the fact that there are about 10^{11} neurons in a human brain, there would still be over a billion photon emission per second. This mechanism appears to be sufficient to facilitate transmission of a large number of bits of information, or even allow the creation of a large amount of quantum entanglement. Note that the behavior of about one hundred photons can already not be simulated efficiently with classical computers (80). It is also worth to mention that psychophysical experiments performed in the past indicate that the bandwidth of conscious experience is below the range of

100 bits per second (81, 82).

3.5. Proposals to test the hypothesis

Although there is already some experimental evidence of biophoton propagation in the brain and axons (12, 43, 44), it would nevertheless be very interesting to test the light guidance of axons directly *in-vitro* and *in-vivo*. For testing *in-vitro*, one way is to light up one end of a thin brain slice (with proper homogeneous myelinated axons) and look for the bright spots related to the open ends of the myelinated axons at the other end. To get more accurate results, one can isolate a suitable myelinated axon and, while keeping it alive in the proper solution, couple into one of guided modes of the axon, similar to what was done for light guidance by Müller cells in Ref. (45). Since the real light sources in the brain may be close to axons terminals (12), one can cut the axon near the terminal and hillock regions, couple the mode directly to the myelin sheath and observe the light intensity from the other end of the axon. This test can verify the guidance of the myelin sheath. Evanescent coupling and readout of light offers another possibility.

For an *in-vivo* test of light guidance, first one needs to prove the existence of biophotons in the myelin sheath. To do so, one can add light-sensitive chemicals like $AgNO_3$ into the cytoplasmic loops in the paranodal region or in oligodendrocytes, which will be passed around to the myelin sheath. Then, the light-activated decomposition of $AgNO_3$ to Ag leaves Ag atoms as the dark insoluble grains. The idea of this test is similar to the technique involved in the development of photographic films, and the in-situ biophoton autography (IBA) technique (43).

An additional type of tests that can be done *in-vivo* is to insert fluorescent molecules or nano-particles as the sources. They could also serve as the detectors if their fluorescence emission is due to the absorption of photons emitted from the sources (83). One can also employ optogenetics (84) to create artificial detectors. Optogenetics uses neurons which are genetically modified to produce light-sensitive proteins operating as ion-channels (like channel rhodopsin). If one places these light-sensitive proteins into the axonal membrane at the end of myelin sheath close to an axon terminal or into the the membranes of the cytoplasmic loops in the paranodal region, one can detect light by observing the operation of the ion-channels. It is not noting that the rate of oligodendrogenesis increases and myelin sheath becomes thicker in neighboring of light-illuminated genetically modified neurons (85). The question comes up whether the neurons adjust themselves for a better light guidance by forming more layers.

Besides the artificial sources and detectors, it is also interesting to use natural ones to show the photon guidance from the sources to the detectors through the axons. To do so, one needs to first understand well the photon sources, and their emission rates and wavelength. One can make use of nanoantennas to raise the emission rates (86) and get a better knowledge about the sources and emissions. Although, some measurements on the number of scattered photons from the axons (not guided or absorbed ones) (10–13) have been performed, photon emission from the individual neurons has not yet been analyzed. One also needs to measure photon detection capabilities of the natural candidate detectors such as opsins, centrosomes (25) and chromophores in mitochondria (26).

4. Discussion

In this review of Ref. (40) we have discussed how light conduction in a myelinated axon is feasible even in the presence of realistic imperfections in the neuron. We have also described future experiments that could validate or falsify this model of biophoton transmission (40). It is also worth addressing a few related questions. It is of interest to identify possible interaction mechanisms between biophotons and nuclear spins within the framework of quantum communication. Spin chemistry research (87) determined effects whereby electron and nuclear spins affect chemical reactions. These effects can also involve photons. In particular, a class of cryptochrome proteins can be photo-activated resulting in the production of a pair of radicals per event, with correlated electronic spins. This effect has been hypothesized to explain bird magnetoreception (49). It has been recently shown by theoretical considerations that interactions between electron and nuclear spins in cryptochromes are of critical importance to the elucidation of the precision of magnetoreception effects (50). Importantly for this topic, cryptochrome complexes are found in the inner regions of the human brain, this could provide the required interface between biophotons and nuclear spins. However, for individual quantum communication links to form a larger quantum network with an associated entanglement process involving many distant spins, the nuclear spins. The involvement of synaptic junctions between individual axons may provide such a proximity mechanism.

We should also address the question of the potential relevance of optical communication between neurons with respect to consciousness and the binding problem. A specific anatomical question that arises is whether brain regions implicated in consciousness (89) (e.g. claustrum (90, 91), the thalamus, hypothalamus and amygdala (92), or the posterior cerebral cortex (89)) have myelinated axons with sufficient diameter to allow light transmission.

A major role of the myelin sheath as an optical waveguide could provide a better understanding of the causes of the various diseases associated with it (e.g. multiple sclerosis (93)) and hence lead to a design and implementation of novel therapies

for these pathologies.

Let us note that, following Ref. (40), we have focused our discussion here on guidance by myelinated axons. However, light guidance by unmyelinated axons is also a possibility, as discussed in more detail in the supplementary information of Ref. (40).

Finally, with the advantages optical communication provides in terms of precision and speed, it is indeed a wonder why biological evolution would not fully exploit this modality. On the other hand, if optical communication involving axons is harnessed by the brain, this would reveal a remarkable, hitherto unknown new aspect of the brains functioning, with potential impacts on unraveling fundamental issues of neuroscience.

5. Acknowledgment

P.Z. is supported by an AITF scholarship. S.K. is supported by AITF and Eyes High scholarships. J.T., P.B. and C.S. are supported by NSERC.

6. References

- 1. R Vogel and R Süssmuth: Weak light emission patterns from lactic acid bacteria. Luminescence 14(2), 99-105 (1999)
- TI Quickenden and RN Tilbury: Luminescence spectra of exponential and stationary phase cultures of respiratory deficient Saccharomyces cerevisiae. J Photochem Photobiol B 8(2), 169-174 (1991).
- 3. CM Gallep and SR Dos Santos: Photon-counts during germination of wheat (Triticum aestivum) in wastewater sediment solutions correlated with seedling growth. *Seed Sci Technol* 35(3), 607-614 (2007)
- 4. A Prasad and P Pospíšil: Towards the two-dimensional imaging of spontaneous ultra-weak photon emission from microbial, plant and animal cells. *Sci Rep* 3, 1211 (2013)
- M Hossu, L Ma, X Zou and W Chen: Enhancement of biophoton emission of prostate cancer cells by Ag nanoparticles. Cancer Nanotech 4(1), 21-26 (2013)
- 6. A Rastogi and P Pospíšil: Spontaneous ultraweak photon emission imaging of oxidative metabolic processes in human skin: effect of molecular oxygen and antioxidant defense system. *J Biomed Opt* 16, 9 (2011)
- 7. M Cifra, E Van Wijk, H Koch, S Bosman and R Van Wijk: Spontaneous ultra-weak photon emission from human hands is time dependent. *Rarioeng* 16(2), 15-19 (2007)
- 8. M Kobayashi, D Kikuchi and H Okamura: Imaging of ultraweak spontaneous photon emission from human body displaying diurnal rhythm. *PLoS One* 4, 7 (2009)
- A Prasad and P Pospišil: Two-dimensional imaging of spontaneous ultra-weak photon emission from the human skin: role of reactive oxygen species. J Biophotonics 4(11-12), 840849 (2011)
- Y Isojima, T Isoshima, K Nagai, K Kikuchi and H Nakagawa: Ultraweak biochemiluminescence detected from rat hippocampal slices. *Neuroreport* 6(4), 658-660 (1995)
- M Kobayashi, M Takeda, T Sato, Y Yamazaki, K Kaneko, KI Ito, H Kato and H Inaba: In vivo imaging of spontaneous ultraweak photon emission from a rats brain correlated with cerebral energy metabolism and oxidative stress. *J Neurosci Res* 34(2), 103-113 (1999)
- 12. R Tang and J Dai: Spatiotemporal imaging of glutamate-induced biophotonic activities and transmission in neural circuits. *PLoS One* 9, 1 (2014)
- 13. Y Kataoka, Y Cui, A Yamagata, M Niigaki, T Hirohata, N Oishi and Y Watanabe: Activity-dependent neural tissue oxidation emits intrinsic ultraweak photons. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 285(4), 1007-1011 (2011)
- 14. V Salari, F Scholkmann, I Bokkon, F Shahbazi and J Tuszynski: The physical mechanism for retinal discrete dark noise: Thermal activation or cellular ultraweak photon emission? *PLOS One* 11, 3 (2016)
- 15. Z Wang, N Wang, Z Li, F Xiao, and J Dai: Human high intelligence is involved in spectral redshift of biophotonic activities in the brain. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 113, 31 (2016)
- 16. J Chang, J Fisch and FA Popp: Biophotons. Springer Science & Business Media, (1998)
- 17. M Cifra and P Pospíšil: Ultra-weak photon emission from biological samples: definition, mechanisms, properties, detection and applications. *J Photochem Photobiol B* 139, 2-10 (2014)
- 18. D Fels: Cellular Communication through Light. PLoS One 4, 4 (2009).

- PD Wade, J Taylor and P Siekevitz: Mammalian cerebral cortical tissue responds to low-intensity visible light. Proc Natl Acad Sci 85(23), 9322-9326 (1988)
- T Starck, J Nissil, A Aunio, A Abou-Elseoud, J Remes, J Nikkinen, M Timonen, T Takala, O Tervonen and V Kiviniemi: Stimulating brain tissue with bright light alters functional connectivity in brain at the resting state. *World J Neurosci* 2(02), 81 (2012)
- DN Leszkiewicz, K Kandler and E Aizenman: Enhancement of NMDA receptormediated currents by light in rat neurones in vitro. J Physiol 524(2), 365-374 (2000)
- 22. AI Zhuravlev, OP Tsvylev and SM Zubkova: Spontaneous endogenous ultraweak luminescence of rat liver mitochondria in conditions of normal metabolism. *Biofizika* 18, 1037-1040 (1973)
- 23. JA Tuszyński and JM Dixon: Quantitative analysis of the frequency spectrum of the radiation emitted by cytochrome oxidase enzymes. *Phys Rev E* 64, 051915 (2001)
- 24. VM Mazhul and DG Shcherbin: Phosphorescent analysis of lipid peroxidation products in liposomes. *Biofizika* 44, 676-681 (1999)
- 25. G Albrecht-Buehler: Cellular infrared detector appears to be contained in the centrosome. *Cell Motil Cytoskeleton* 27, 262-271 (1994)
- 26. M Kato, K Shinzawa and S Yoshikawa: Cytochrome oxidase is a possible photoreceptor in mitochondria. *Photobiochem Photobiophys* 2, 263-269 (1981)
- 27. T Okano, T Yoshizawa and Y Fukada: Pinopsin is a chicken pineal photoreceptive molecule. Nature 372, 94-97 (1994)
- Y Nakane, K Ikegami, H Ono, N Yamamoto, S Yoshida, K Hirunagi, S Ebihara, Y Kubo and T Yoshimura: A mammalian neural tissue opsin (Opsin 5) is a deep brain photoreceptor in birds. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 107, 34 (2010)
- 29. S Blackshaw and SH Snyder: Encephalopsin: a novel mammalian extraretinal opsin discretely localized in the brain. J Neurosci 19, 10 (1999)
- J Nissilä, S Mänttäri, T Särkioja, H Tuominen, T Takala, M Timonen and S Saarela: Encephalopsin (OPN3) protein abundance in the adult mouse brain. J Comp Physiol A 198, 11 (2012)
- 31. D Kojima, S Mori, M Torii, A Wada, R Morishita and Y Fukada: UV-sensitive photoreceptor protein OPN5 in humans and mice. *PLoS One* 6(10) e26388 (2011)
- 32. I Provencio, IR Rodriguez, G Jiang, WP Hayes, EF Moreira and MD Rollag: A novel human opsin in the inner retina. J Neurosci 20(2), 600-605 (2000)
- 33. D Kojima, H Mano and Y Fukada: Vertebrate ancient-long opsin: a green-sensitive photoreceptive molecule present in zebrafish deep brain and retinal horizontal cells. *J Neurosci* 20, 8 (2000)
- EE Tarttelin, J Bellingham, MW Hankins, RG Foster and RJ Lucas: Neuropsin (Opn5): a novel opsin identified in mammalian neural tissue. *Febs Letters* 554(3), 410-416 (2003)
- 35. Y Shichida and T Matsuyama: Evolution of opsins and phototransduction. Phil Trans R Soc B 364(1531), 2881-2895 (2009)
- 36. R Thar and M Kühl: Propagation of electromagnetic radiation in mitochondria? J Theor Biol 230(2), 261-270 (2004)
- 37. M Rahnama, J A Tuszynski, I Bokkon, M Cifra, P Sardar and V Salari: Emission of mitochondrial biophotons and their effect on electrical activity of membrane via microtubules. *J. Integr. Neurosci.* 10(01), 65-88 (2011)
- 38. M Jibu, S Hagan, SR Hameroff, KH Pribram and K Yasue: Quantum optical coherence in cytoskeletal microtubules: implications for brain function. *Biosystems* 32(3), 195-209 (1994)
- 39. F Scholkmann: Long range physical cell-to-cell signalling via mitochondria inside membrane nanotubes: a hypothesis. *Theor. Biol. Med. Model.* 13(1), 16 (2016)
- 40. S Kumar, K Boone, J Tuszynski, P Barclay and C Simon: Possible existence of optical communication channels in the brain. *Sci Rep* 6, 36508 (2016)
- IP Antonov, AV Goroshkov, VN Kalyunov, IV Markhvida, AS Rubanov and LV Tanin: Measurement of the radial distribution of the refractive index of the Schwanns sheath and the axon of a myelinated nerve fiber in vivo. *J Appl Spectrosc* 39(1), 822-824 (1983)
- 42. D Purves, GJ Augustine, D Fitzpatrick, LC Katz, AS LaMantia, JO McNamara and SM Williams (editors): Neuroscience. *Sinauer Associates*, (2001)
- 43. Y Sun, C Wang and J Dai: Biophotons as neural communication signals demonstrated by in situ biophoton autography. *Photochem Photobiol Sci* 9(3), 315-322 (2010)
- 44. KM Hebeda, T Menovsky, JF Beek, JG Wolbers, MJ van Gemert: Light propagation in the brain depends on nerve fiber orientation. *Neurosurgery* 35(4), 720-724 (1994)

- 45. K Franze, J Grosche, SN Skatchkov, S Schinkinger, C Foja, D Schild, O Uckermann, K Travis, A Reichenbach and J Guck: Müller cells are living optical fibers in the vertebrate retina. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 104(20), 8287-8292 (2007)
- 46. AM Labin, SK Safuri, EN Ribak and I Perlman: Müller cells separate between wavelengths to improve day vision with minimal effect upon night vision. *Nat Commun* 5, 4319 (2014)
- 47. GS Engel, TR Calhoun, EL Read, TK Ahn, T Mančal, YC Cheng, RE Blankenship and GR Fleming: Evidence for wavelike energy transfer through quantum coherence in photosynthetic systems. *Nature* 446, 782-786 (2007)
- E Romero, R Augulis, VI Novoderezhkin, M Ferretti, J Thieme, D Zigmantas and RV Grondelle: Quantum coherence in photosynthesis for efficient solar-energy conversion. *Nat Phys* 10(9), 676-682 (2014)
- 49. T Ritz, S Adem, and K Schulten: A model for photoreceptor-based magnetoreception in birds. Biophys J 78, 707-718 (2000)
- H G Hiscock, S Worster, D R Kattnig, C Steers, Y Jin, D E Manolopoulos, H Mouritsen, and P J Hore: The quantum needle of the avian magnetic compass. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 113(17), 4634-4639 (2016)
- 51. L Turin: A Spectroscopic Mechanism for Primary Olfactory Reception. Chem Senses 21, 773-791 (1996)
- M I Franco, L Turin, A Mershin, and E M C Skoulakis: Molecular vibration-sensing component in Drosophila melanogaster olfaction. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 108(9), 3797-3802 (2011)
- 53. R Horodecki, P Horodecki, M Horodecki, K Horodecki: Quantum entanglement. Rev Mod Phys 81, 865 (2009)
- 54. GA Mashour: The cognitive binding problem: from Kant to quantum neurodynamics. *NeuroQuantology* 1, 29-38 (2004)
- 55. S Hameroff, R Penrose: Consciousness in the universe: A review of the 'Orch OR' theory. Phys Life Rev 11, 39-78 (2014)
- 56. M Fisher: Quantum cognition: The possibility of processing with nuclear spins in the brain. Ann Phys 61, 593-602 (2015)
- 57. M Tegmark: Importance of quantum decoherence in brain processes. Phys Rev E 61, 4194-4206 (2000)
- W S Warren, S Ahn, M Mescher, M Garwood, K Ugurbil, W Richter, R R Rizi, J Hopkins, J S Leigh: MR Imaging contrast enhancement based on intermolecular zero quantum coherences. *Science* 281(5374), 247-251 (1998)
- H Lei, X H Xhu, X L Zhang, K Ugurbil, and W Chen, W: In vivo ³¹P magnetic resonance spectroscopy of human brain at 7 T: an initial experience. *Magn Reson Med* 49, 199-205 (2003)
- 60. H J Kimble: The quantum internet. Nature 453, 1023-1030 (2008)
- 61. N Sangouard, C Simon, H de Riedmatten, and N Gisin: Quantum repeaters based on atomic ensembles and linear optics. *Rev Mod Phys* 83(33), (2011)
- 62. Z Wang, I S Chun, X Li, Z Ong, E Pop, L Millet, M Gillette, and G Popescu: Topography and refractometry of nanostructures using spatial light interference microscopy. *Opt Lett*, 35(2), 208210 (2010)
- 63. V V Tuchin, I L Maksimova, D A Zimnyakov, I L Kon, A H Mavlyutov, A A Mishin: Light propagation in tissues with controlled optical properties. *J Biomed Opt* 2(4), 401-417 (1997)
- 64. R L Friede, and R Bischhausen: How are sheath dimensions affected by axon caliber and internode length? *Brain Res* 235, 335-350 (1982)
- 65. D Liewald, R Miller, N Logothetis, H J Wagner, and A Schüz: Distribution of axon diameters in cortical white matter: an electron-microscopic study on three human brains and a macaque. *Biol Cybern* 108, 541-557 (2014)
- 66. C Jocher, C Jauregui, C Voigtländer, F Stutzki, S Nolte, J Limpert, and A Tünnermann: Fiber based polarization filter for radially and azimuthally polarized light. *Opt Express* 19(20), 19582-19590 (2011)
- 67. P Chinn and F O Schmitt: On the birefringence of nerve sheaths as studied in cross sections. J Cell Biol 9(2), 289-296 (1937)
- 68. E Kandel, T Jessell, J Schwartz, S Siegelbaum, and A J Hudspeth: Principles of Neural Science. *McGraw-Hill Medical*, (2012)
- 69. J Zagoren and S Fedoroff (eds): The Node of Ranvier. Academic Press, Inc, Orlando, (1984)
- A Syahriar: A simple analytical solution for loss in S-bend optical waveguide. RF and Microwave Conference, 2008. RFM 2008. IEEE International, 10.1109/RFM.2008.4897467, 357-360 (2008)
- 71. A J Schain, R A Hill, and J Grutzendler: Label-free in vivo imaging of myelinated axons in health and disease with spectral confocal reflectance microscopy. *Nat Med* 20(4), 443-449 (2014)
- 72. A Peters, S L Palay, H deF. Webster: Fine Structure of the Nervous System: Neurons and Their Supporting Cells. In: Journal of Neuropathology & Experimental Neurology. *Oxford University Press*, (1991)
- 73. W Cheong, S Prahl, and A J Welch: A review of the optical properties of biological tissues. *IEEE J Quantum Electron* 26, 2166-2185 (1990)

- A N Yaroslavsky, P C Schulze, I V Yaroslavsky, R Schober, F Ulrich, H J Schwarzmaier: Optical properties of selected native and coagulated human brain tissues in vitro in the visible and near infrared spectral range. *Phys Med Biol* 47(12), 2059-2073 (2002)
- 75. R L P van Veen, H J C M Sterenborg, A Pifferi. A Torricelli, E Chikoidze, R Cubeddu: Determination of visible near-IR absorption coefficients of mammalian fat using time- and spatially resolved diffuse reflectance and transmission spectroscopy. J Biomed Opt 10, (054004) (2005)
- P Facci, P Cavatorta, L Cristofolini, M P Fontana, A Fasano, and P Riccio: Kinetic and structural study of the interaction of myelin basic protein with dipalmitoylphosphatidylglycerol layers. *Biophys J* 78, 14131419 (2000)
- 77. M Ibrahim, A M Butt, and M Berry: Relationship between myelin sheath diameter and internodal length in axons of the anterior medullary velum of the adult rat. *J Neurol Sci* 133, 119-127 (1995)
- 78. J Nolte: The Human Brain: An Introduction to its Functional Anatomy. 3rd ed. St. Louis: Mosby-Year Book, (1993)
- 79. G Buzsáki, and K Mizuseki: The log-dynamic brain: how skewed distributions affect network operations. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 15, 264-278 (2014)
- 80. S Lloyd: Universal Quantum Simulators. Science 273, 1073-1078 (1996)
- 81. M Zimmermann: The Nervous System in the Context of Information Theory. In: Human Physiology. Eds: R F Schmidt and G Thews, *Springer*, (1989)
- 82. T Norretranders: The User Illusion: Cutting Consciousness Down to Size. Penguin Press Science, (1999).
- 83. X Yang: Nanotechnology in Modern Medical Imaging and Interventions. Nova Science Pub Inc, (2013).
- 84. K Deisseroth: Optogenetics. Nat Methods 8, 26-29 (2011)
- 85. E M Gibson, D Purger, C W Mount, A K Goldstein, G L Lin, L S Wood, I Inema, S E Miller, G Bieri, J Bradley Zuchero, B A Barres, P J Woo, H Voge, M Monje: Neuronal activity promotes oligodendrogenesis and adaptive myelination in the mammalian brain. *Science* 344, (1252304) (2014)
- S Kühn, U Håkanson, L Rogobete, and V Sandoghdar: Enhancement of Single-Molecule Fluorescence Using a Gold Nanoparticle as an Optical Nanoantenna. *Phys Rev Lett* 97, (017402) (2006)
- N J Turro: Fun with Photons, Reactive Intermediates, and Friends. Skating on the Edge of the Paradigms of Physical Organic Chemistry, Organic Supramolecular Photochemistry, and Spin Chemistry. J Org Chem 76, 9863-9890 (2011)
- E L Foley, R J Gegear, and S M Reppert: Human cryptochrome exhibits light-dependent magnetosensitivity. *Nat Commun* 2, (356) (2011)
- C Koch, M Massimini, M Boly, and G Tononi: Neural correlates of consciousness: progress and problems. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 17, 307321 (2016)
- M Z Koubeissi, F Bartolomei, A Beltagy, and F Picard: Electrical stimulation of a small brain area reversibly disrupts consciousness. *Epilepsy Behav* 37, 32-35 (2014)
- 91. F C Crick and C Koch: What is the function of the claustrum? Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 360, 1271-1279 (2005)
- 92. W Loewenstein: Physics in Mind: A Quantum View of the Brain. Basic Books, (2013)
- J Nakahara, M Maeda, S Iso, and N Suzuki: Current concepts in multiple sclerosis: autoimmunity versus oligodendrogliopathy. *Clin Rev Allergy Immunol* 42, 26-34 (2012)
- Key Words: Brain, Biophotons, Myelinated axons, Waveguides, Quantum, Review

Send correspondence to: Christoph Simon, Department of Physics and Astronomy, University of Calgary, Calgary T2N 1N4, Alberta, Canada, Tel: +1(403)220-7007, Fax: +1(403)210-8876, E-mail: csimo@ucalgary.ca